IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

(Before a Referee)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

-vs-

ROGER R. MAAS,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF
PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROGER R. MAAS
2901 First Avenue North
St. Petersburg, Florida 33713
813/327-8767
Respondent

CONFIDENTIAL

67,854

CASE NO:

#

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about July 20, 1981, Judy Lyons contacted the Respondent to handle the estate of her mother, Ruth Leto. The Respondent advised Mrs. Lyons that, because of his recent hospitalizations, he was not taking any new cases, but that he would recommend attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr. (R-112, 7-18)

Respondent agreed to meet with Mrs. Lyons and attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr. and met with her at attorney Baskin's office in Clearwater, Florida. Mr. Baskin was unable to attend the initial conference and, in his absence, Respondent signed the Petition for Administration. (R-102 10-11; C 148 lines 6-9)

Mrs. Lyons wanted Respondent present because she and the decedent had used his services before and had confidence in him. However, it was explained to Mrs. Lyons that attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr. would be representing her.

The estate assets were in excess off \$300,000, the bulk of which was transferred in 1981.

However, there were certain stocks and bonds that were, apparently, turned over to H. H. Baskin, Jr. through his secretary/wife, Joyce Baskin, that were not transferred.

These three stocks and/or bonds totalled about \$19,000.

Ms. Baskin maintains these stocks and bonds were not turned over to her. Ms. Baskin then apparently attempted to transfer the stocks without the stock certificates. However, Mrs. Lyons had moved and letters were not forwarded.

A grievance was then filed against not only the Respondent, but also Ms. Baskin in the capacity as "attorney". Respondent attempted to obtain the file from attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr. for the purpose of closing the estate. All of Respondent's many calls and letters were ignored. (A-13)

The Respondent then asked the Court for guidance. Circuit Judge Thomas Penick, who was sitting in probate, advised the Respondent that this was a regular problem with attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr.'s office and suggested that perhaps attorney Mark Shames should take over the case, since a grievance had been filed against the Respondent.

Attorney Mark Shames filed a Notice of Appearance and attempted to get the file from attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr., to no avail, until, at Judge Penick's suggestion, Baskin was threatened with having the Sheriff come seize the file.

Shortly thereafter attorney Mark Shames transferred the stocks.

The estate has not been closed, however, since there remains to be heard a Petition to Surcharge Attorney for Personal Representative. The Petition to Surcharge attorney is seeking relief of, inter alia, return of all attorney's fees and costs to one of the heirs, Franklin Leto's, attorney, and for damages. (A-7)

Attorney Mark Shames has filed a Motion To With-draw as attorney citing lack of cooperation of heirs. (A-10)

The Respondent further has reason to believe that

Ms. Baskin was charged and disciplined for unauthorized practice of law as a result of her involvement in this case. The Respondent heard this after the Referee's hearing and The Florida Bar has refused to either confirm or deny it.

In considering these charges against the Respondent, The Florida Bar and/or the Referee, ignored the testimony which would show attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr. accepted ultimate responsibility for the estate. It is, incidentally, acknowledged that H. H. Baskin, Jr. is an expert in probate law. The testimony regarding attorney Baskin's responsibility, and acceptance of same, is found in the appendix at:

```
R pg. 96, 11-15
R pg. 97, 22-24
R pg. 99, 25 through pg 100, 1-8, 15-14
R pg 100, 1-8 and 14-15
R pg 108, 20-25
R pg 141, 5-16
C pg 145, 17-19
C pg 148, 3-14
C pg 148, 20-23
C pg 150, 14-18
C pg 151, 17-25
C pg 152, 7-13
C pg 153, 9-13
C pg 153, 24-25
C pg 154, 17-19
C pg 154, 20-25
C pg 155, 6-8
C pg 156, 15-16
C pg 158, 2-3
C pg 158, 23-25
C pg 159, 1-2
C pg 160, 3-8
C pg 164, 1-18
C pg 165, 19-20
C pg 167, 4-10
C pg 169, 7-11
C pg 171, 6-9
C pg 171, 12-16
```

C pg 172, 2-4 C pg 174, 21-23

Further, the probate file reflects attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr. initiated these proceedings by charging the costs of filing to his personal law practice account with the Clerk's Office. (A-5)

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 26, 1983, Frank S. Leto, an heir in the Estate of Ruth Leto, filed a complaint with the Florida Bar. Under "Attorney Complained Of:" Mr. Leto wrote first, the name of Joyce Baskin and then that of the Respondent herein. Mr. Leto goes on to refer to Joyce Baskin as an attorney in the body of the complaint form. Respondent, after numerous inquiries to The Florida Bar and their Unauthorized Practice of Law Section, has been refused information regarding any action against Joyce Baskin. (A-1)

On December 11, 1984 Grievance Committee 6-C convened in St. Petersburg, Florida. The Committee took testimony, deliberated in Executive Session and "found that there is in the record evidence to support violations..."

"The Committee also, in Executive Session, considered the matter of recommended punishment, and it is the unanimous conclusion of the Committee on motion made and duly seconded, that the Board of Governors issue its private reprimend to the respondent attorney..." (emphasis added) (C pg. 180, lines 18-23)

The Committee further found that "there is a sufficient basis in this record for investigation by staff counsel or The Florida Bar with regard to possible violations of disciplinary rules by the witness, Attorney (H.H.) Baskin, and does respectfully request that The Florida Bar, through its professional staff institute and conduct whatever investi-

gation it feels is appropriate and takes whatever action thereafter is considered to be proper under the circumstanclines 24-25 and pg 181, ines 1-9)
es." (C pg 180 / This most critical fact was not learned by the Respondent for some twenty-seven months and was withheld from the Referee as well.

Contrary to Integration Rule 11.04: GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE FUNCTION AND PROCEDURE; Rule 11.04(6)(c)(i), this report was not served on the Respondent. The Respondent was not even advised of the Committee's actual recommendation of a private reprimand. On the contrary, Florida Bar Staff Counsel, Dian Victor Kuenzel, advised the Respondent that the Committee had recommended a public reprimand. Not until March 20, 1987 did Respondent discover the truth when he received a copy of the transcript of Grievance Committee 6-C.

On November 5, 1985 The Florida Bar filed its Complaint against Roger R. Maas, the Respondent, charging a violation of Disciplinary Rule 2-107(A)(1) (division of fees with another attorney who is not a partner without full disclosure and consent of the client); D.R. 6-101(A)(1) (handling a legal matter which he know or should know he is not competent to handle); D.R.6-101(A)(3) (neglect of a legal matter).

The Respondent filed his Answer denying the charges. Upon Motion requesting confidentiality be maintained, an Order granting said Motion was entered, and later denied but published by Bar Counsel (A-11).

A waiver of venue, by a Referee approved stipulation, moved the proceedings to Hillsborough County and hearing began June 20, 1986. Thereafter, at the Court's request, certain witnesses were recalled for October 2, 1986. The Referee requested counsel for Respondent provide cases in favor of Respondent at the close of said hearing.

Accordingly, Respondent requested The Florida
Bar either produce, in camera, or produce to the Respondent,
all similar cases where there was no sanction or the sanction
was less than recommended here. This was refused.

The Respondent was, of course, unable to cite any cases, as requested by the Referee, wherein there was no sanction or the sanction was less than Recommended here. Staff Counsel for The Florida Bar, contrary to Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 4-3.3 Candor toward the tribunal; and 4-3.4 Fairness to opposing party and counsel, did not cite to the Referee any similar cases where sanctions less than public reprimand and suspension were imposed.

This Court ordered the Referee to file his report within 180 days of November 15, 1985. No motion for extension of time was filed, nor was any Order extending the time filed. The report of the Referee was filed November 17, 1986 - some one hundred eighty-eight (188) days late.

The Referee recommended Respondent be found guilty of D.R. 6-101(A)(1) (handling a legal matter an attorney knows or should know he is incompetent to handle); and D.R.

6-101(A)(3) (neglect of a legal matter).

The Referee recommended the Respondent be found not guilty of D.R. 2-107(A)(1) (division of fees with another attorney who is not a partner without full disclosure and consent of the client). (A-2)

The Referee recommended that:

"...the respondent be suspended for a fixed period of four months, thereafter until he shall prove his rehabilitation and for an indefinite period until he shall pay the cost of this proceeding and make restitution to his client in the amount of \$11,300 as provided in the rule 11.10(4); said amount was determined as follows:

- 1. \$1,500 fee paid to Mr. Shames
- 2. \$6,000 fee paid to Mr. Winick
- 3. \$3,000 refund of the \$9,000 fee paid to Mr. Maas
- 4. \$ 800 bond premium the estate was required to post.

and pay costs of \$1,577.74."

The Motion by Respondent for an extension of time to file a Petition For Review was granted up to and including March 19, 1987; and a Motion For Extension of Time to File Brief was granted up to March 30, 1987.

As a result of the Referee's report, the status of the Complaint is now as follows: (A-12, Complaint)

- 1. Admitted or proven.
- 2. Contested in that the evidence is more susceptible to the inference that attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr., was hired at least as co-counsel.
  - 3. Admitted or proven.

- 4. Admitted or proven.
- 5. Contested in that the evidence is more susceptible to the inference that attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr. was hired at least as co-counsel.
- 6. Contested in that it was never shown that Respondent had "little experience" and that the balance of the paragraph is contested.
- 7. Referee's findings are in accord with allegations of paragraph 7, but it is contested that the evidence supports it.
- 8. Referee's findings are in accord with the allegations of paragraph 8, but it is contested that the evidence supports it, and is in fact in direct conflict with the evidence, for instance:
- a) Attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr. testified that he reviews and approves everything that leaves his office. (R pg 100, lines 7-15)
- b) The Notice to Creditors names H. H. Baskin, Jr. as co-counsel. (A-3)
- c) The initial document in the probate file is to Paul (Cloninger), chief probate clerk, directing all correspondence to this estate should be mailed to Roger R. Maas c/o H. H. Baskin, Jr. This letter is on attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr.'s letterhead and the address and phone number for correspondence is that of H. H. Baskin (A-4). Further, this was approved by H. H. Baskin, Jr. as shown

in "a)" above.

d) Letter to Judy Lyons, Personal Representative, on attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr.'s letterhead and the salutation is:

"Law Offices Of Baskin & Bennison"

(Mrs.) Joyce Baskin Secretary to Roger R. Maas

- 9. By implication, accepted by the Referee. But Mrs. Joyce Baskin does not have an office; it is the office of her husband, attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr. of Baskin and Bennison.
- 10. That the Letters of Administration not filed until October 9, 1981 has been proven, but, the responsibility therefore has not been established as the responsibility of the Respondent.
- 11. Contested that the inventory was not drafted until January 20, 1982, but accepted as proven it was not signed until January 20, 1982.
- 12. Accepted as proven that the Inventory was not filed until February 11, 1982 and that a citation to Show Cause was served on Judy Lyons, but the responsibility therefor has not been established, and now, after more than five years, all witnesses memories have faded. It should be pointed out that the probate court, on February 17, 1982, discharged the citation, without any finding of fault, undue delay or contemptious act. No witness was able to recon-

struct the events of that time.

- 13. Allegations correct as to the signing of check number "5", but it is unsubstantiated that Respondent requested same.
- 14. Allegations correct as to the signing of check number "13", but unsubstantiated that Respondent requested same.
- 15. Allegation 15 is true, but immaterial since F.S. 733.106 does not require a petition for fees and it is, therefore, a mistaken application of law.
  - 16. Uncontested and proven.
  - 17. Uncontested and proven.
- 18. Admitted that Joyce Baskin used Respondent's letterhead, but contested it was with Respondent's knowledge or permission. Further, attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr. testified that he reviewed everything that left his office and that lines 15-16 he is responsible. (R100 lines 7-8; C-171, lines 8-9; C-156 /
- 19. Not supported by the evidence and contested that Joyce Baskin was not supervised. Her husband and employer, attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr. and experienced probate lawyer, testified that he supervised all of the work, including this estate. (C-156, lines 6-8)
- 20. Allegation of paragraph 20 are misleading. Please see paragraphs "18." and "19." above.
  - 21. Referee made no finding of late penalty.
  - 22. Referee made no finding.

- 23. Referee made no finding.
- 24. Referee made no finding.
- 25. Allegations of paragraph 25 are misleading and contrary to testimony. After the grievance was filed, Respondent sought the aid and advice of Circuit Probate Judge Thomas E. Penick on three occasions, who suggested that the Respondent seek the aid of attorney Mark Shames, and because attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr. refused to return the file, that he, Judge Penick, would order the Sheriff to retrieve the file if need be. (R-122 lines 13-22; R-124, lines 7-17; C-63, line 21 through page 64)
  - 26. The Referee recommended as to:
    - D.R. 2-107(A)(1) not quilty
    - D.R. 2-101(A)(1) guilty
    - D.R. 2-101(A)(3) guilty

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ent has been advised he had to testify, the Chairman advised Respondent that he was being investigated for four separate violations of the Discipline Rules. Testimony was taken, and the Committee found violations of several Disciplinary Rules, but unanimously recommended a private reprimand. The Respondent was not served with this report, in violation of the Integration Rule. The Florida Bar filed its Complaint, alleging violations of 3 Disciplinary Rules, only one of which was the subject of the original hearing. The Respondent was found not guilty of that violation, but guilty of the two "new" violations. This was clearly a violation of procedural due process of law.

Bar Counsel cited several cases to the Referee, all of which involved public reprimands and suspensions. Bar Counsel failed and refused to reveal any of the many cases wherein any lesser sanctions or dismissals were the result. This violated the Respondent's right to equal protection and due process of law.

The Referee recommended a finding of guilt on D.R. 6-101(A)(1) (handling a legal matter an attorney knows or should know he is incompetent to handle); and D.R. 6-101 (A)(3) (neglect of a legal matter). D.R. 6-101(A)(1) had not been specifically pled in the Complaint and was contrary

to the evidence and testimony. Further, even if true, an admitted expert in probate matters, attorney H. H. Baskin, Jr., stated without reservation that he was involved in the case and that it was his responsibility.

Regarding D.R. 6-101(A)(3) there were two attorney's who testified. One who is seeking fees from the Respondent testified that there appeared to be neglect. The other, H.H. Baskin, Jr., testified there was no neglect. The Court file reflects that the Personal Representative moved without leaving a forwarding address for eight (8) months. Further, testimony revealed that stock certificates were lost in the mail. The total estate was approximately \$300,000, all of which was transfered, with the exception of the \$18,000 in stock. After the new attorney entered the case over seven (7) months elapsed before the stocks were transferred.

Another attorney, representing one of the heirs, asked for, and it was recommended by the Referee, that he receive from Respondent, \$6,000 for his efforts in transferring the stock. He was not the attorney for the estate, no expert testimony regarding reasonableness and necessity was presented and the recommendation is in direct violation of F.S. 733.

The Referee was ordered by the Supreme Court to have his report filed within 180 days. His report was 188 days late, which the Respondent suggested was no worse than the alleged neglect of the Respondent.

The Referee further ordered restitution, which

was never pled, nor was the Respondent given notice that it would be an issue, which denied Respondent due process of law, and was in violation of F.S. 733.6175.

The Complaint contained no allegations to advise the Respondent that this was not considered a minor misconduct case that would involve anything more than a private reprimand. Further, none of the guidelines in the Integration Rule for determining discipline to be other than minor misconduct were alleged. Bar Counsel further withheld from the Referee and the Respondent, the Grievance Committee's unanimous recommendation of a private reprimand.

The ultimate result was that the charges were not proven by clear and convincing evidence and the Respondent was denied eugal protection and denied due process of law.

### ISSUE I

WAS THE RESPONDENT DEPRIVED OF PROCED-URAL DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN CHARGES OF VIOLATING D.R. 6-101(A)(1) and D.R. 6-101(A)(3) WERE ADDED TO THE ORIGINAL CHARGES BASED UPON, AND AS A RESULT OF, TESTIMONY PRESENTED AT DISCIPLINARY HEARINGS

On December 11, 1984 Respondent was advised of the charges against him by Gilbert MacPherson, investigating member of Grievance Committee 6-C. The hearing was held to take testimony regarding violations of D.R. 2-102, D.R. 2-107(A)(1), D.R. 2-107(A)(2) and D.R. 9-102(A)(4).

After testimony was taken, and without notice to the Respondent, the Committee ruled that they found evidence to support violations of D.R. 2-107(A)(1), D.R. 6-101(A)(1), D.R. 6-101(A)(3) and D.R. 1-102(A)(4).

The Florida Bar subsequently filed a complaint for violations of D.R. 6-101(A)(1), D.R. 6-101(A)(3) and D.R. 2-107(A)(1).

The only charge ultimately heard by the Referee that was subject of the original hearing, and prior to testimony, was D.R. 2-107(A)(1). The Referee recommended Respondent be found not guilty of that Disciplinary Rule.

The United States Supreme Court, in one of its very rare reviews of Bar disciplinary matters, heard the case of In the Matter of John Ruffalo, Jr., 390 US 544, 20 L Ed 2d 117, 88 S Ct 1222, ren den 391 US 961, 20 L Ed 874,

88 S Ct 1833 (1968). The Ruffalo case involved disbarment proceedings wherein attorney Ruffalo was found to have engaged in misconduct consisting of hiring a railroad car inspector during his off-duty hours, to investigate FELA claims against the inspector's employer. This charge of misconduct was not in the original charges against the petitioner, but was added as a result of testimony presented during disbarment hearings. The attorney was disbarred.

On certiorari, the United States Supreme Court reversed. In an opinion by Douglas, J., expressing the views of five members of the court, it was held that since there was a lack of fair notice as to the reach of the state disbarrment proceedings and the precise nature of the charges, the petitioner was deprived of procedural due process.

Justice Douglas stated, at 122,

Disbarment, designed to protect the public, is a punishment or penalty on the lawyer. Ex parte Garland, 4 Wall 333,380, 18 L Ed 366,369; Spevack v. Klein, 385 U.S. 511,515, 17 L Ed 574, 577, 87 S Ct 625. He is accordingly entitled to procedural due process, which includes fair notice of the charge. See in re Oliver, 333 US 257, 273, 92 L Ed 682, 694, 68 S Ct 499.

These are adversary proceedings of a quasi-criminal nature. Cf. In re Gault, 387 US 1,33, 18 L Ed 2d 527,549,87 S Ct 1428. The charge must be known before the proceedings commence. They become a trap when, after they are underway, the charges are amended on the basis of testimony of the accused. He can then be given no opportunity to expunge the earlier statements and start afresh.

The Ohio State Bar Association and the Mahoning County Bar Association, amicus curiae, argued there was no due process violation because the petitioner was given several months to respond to the charge. The U.S. Supreme Court responded to this argument by pointing out that serious prejudice may well have occurred because of the original 12 specifications of misconduct. The Court, in footnote 4, page 122, stated that Ruffalo:

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