5.11

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

 \mathbf{v} .

ROGER R. MAAS,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 67,854

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

Diane V. Kuenzel Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport Marriott Hotel Tampa, FL 33607 (813) 875-9821

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This disciplinary proceeding is before this Court upon Petitioner's Petition for Review of the Report of the Referee finding Petitioner in violation of the Florida Bar Code of Professional Responsibility Disciplinary Rule 6-101(A)(1)(handling a legal matter an attorney knows of should incompetent to handle) and Disciplinary Rule 6-101(A)(3)(neglect of a legal matter). Petitioner further seeks review of the referee's findings and recommendation respondent be disciplined by a suspension of four (4) months and thereafter until he proves rehabilitation, pays the costs of the Bar proceedings and restitution to the client in the amount of \$11,300.00.

The Petitioner in this Petition for Review is Roger R. Maas and the Respondent is The Florida Bar. In this Answer Brief, each party will be referred to as they appeared before the referee. Record references in this Answer Brief are to portions of two-volume transcript with exhibits and to pleading as they appear in the record. The transcripts will be referenced as follows:

Final Hearing - July 9, 1987 = TR I
Continuation of Final Hearing - October 2, 1987 = TR II

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In order to maintain the integrity of the record in this proceeding, complainant points out to the Court that respondent's Statement of Facts and Argument incorporate, in large part, references to letters, memoranda, transcripts and respondent's own interpretations, which were not a part of the record below.

The following are facts, taken only from the record, as distinguished from respondent's statements.

In June, 1981, when Mrs. Ruth H. Leto died, she left a Will providing that her assets be equally divided among her three children: Ruth Lyons, Frank Leto and Marvin Leto. [TR I 41; Bar Exhibit 1, Last Will and Testament]. At the time of her death, Mrs. Leto's estate totalled approximately \$296,00.00. [TR I 41, 60; Bar Exhibit 1, Inventory]. A substantial portion of the estate consisted of a pre-existing marital trust handled by the United States Trust Company in the amount of \$158,000.00, proceeds of which were distributed by the trust company to the three beneficiaries in January, 1982 as takers in default upon the death of their mother, Ruth H. Leto. [TR I 24, 41, 60]. The remainder of the estate consisted of the following: Certificates of Deposit in the amount of \$110,000.00 deposited with Barnett Bank of Florida, a joint savings account held by Mrs. Leto in the

amount of \$6,000.00 at Clearwater Federal, and three securities, Dayco (\$5,234.62), Internorth, Inc. (\$14,121.50), and Security Pacific (\$5,262.50). [Bar Exhibit 1, Inventory; TR I 24, 25, 42, 43, 60]. The joint savings account of Clearwater Federal was transferred to Mrs. Lyons without respondent's assistance. [TR I 42].

Following her mother's death, Mrs. Lyons contacted respondent, who had originally drafted Mrs. Leto's regarding the distribution of the assets in her mother's estate. [TR I 24, 25]. At that time, respondent asked Mrs. Lyons to meet him at the law offices of Baskin & Bennison, located in Clearwater, stating that as Mrs. Lyons lived in Palm Harbor, the location would be more convenient. [TR I 25, 88]. At the time, respondent maintained an office in St. Petersburg and did not have an office at Baskin and Bennison. [TR I 88]. illness, a difficult divorce and lack of a probate secretary, respondent asked assistance from H. H. Baskin's wife and secretary. [TR I 111]. Respondent entered into an agreement with Joyce Baskin, an experienced probate secretary, wherein she would provide secretarial service on the estate, in exchange for respondent's payment of the \$9,000.00 in estate fees to H. H. Baskin to discharge a debt for Baskin's representation in respondent's divorce. [TR I 88].

In July, 1981, Mrs. Lyons met with respondent and Joyce Baskin at the Baskin & Bennison office. At that time, Mrs. Lyons delivered to respondent and Joyce Baskin the securities

certificates for Dayco, Internorth and Security Pacific, as well as information regarding the Certificates of [TR I 25]. On August 24, 1986, Mrs. Lyons, who was appointed by her brothers as Personal Representative, gave respondent a check to open the estate and signed the Petition for Administration and Oath of Personal Representative, on which respondent was listed as attorney for the Petitioner with the address of his law office [Bar Exhibit 1, Petition for Administration, in St. Petersburg. Oath of Personal Representative; TR I 26]. At no time were either Ms. Lyons, or her brother Frank Leto (who later met with Joyce Baskin in the Clearwater office), aware of H. H. Baskin or informed that he would be handling the file in any manner, as [TR I 26, 35, 44]. respondent contends.

9, 1981 respondent filed the Petition October Administration, signed by Mrs. Lyons in August, 1981. Exhibit 1, Petition for Administration]. On October 8, 1981, respondent corresponded with the three beneficiaries on his St. Petersburg law office letterhead, informing them of the status of the estate and advising them to direct all inquiries to his secretary at his "Clearwater office". [Bar Exhibit #2]. January 20, 1982, Mrs. Lyons signed the Estate Inventory, Attorney for the Personal prepared by respondent, as Representative. [Bar Exhibit #1, Inventory]. The listed as probate assets the jointly held savings account in the amount of \$6,000.00 and the marital trust, both of which were automatically distributed following Mrs. Leto's death. [Bar Exhibit 1, Inventory; TR I 24, 41, 60].

On January 26, 1982, at respondent's request, Mrs. Lyons issued a check to respondent in the amount of \$5,000.00 as attorney fees for handling the estate, which respondent endorsed over to H. H. Baskin as per his agreement with Joyce Baskin. [TR I 29; Bar Exhibit 3]. Mrs. Lyons was not informed that any estate attorney fees would be turned over to H. H. Baskin. [TR I 29].

On February 9, 1982, Mrs. Lyons received a Show Cause Citation for failure to file the Estate Inventory, which she signed on January 26, 1982 and delivered to respondent. [Bar Exhibit 1, Citation Requiring Showing of Cause as to Why Contempt Order Should not be Entered]. On February 11, 1982, respondent filed the Inventory and the Show Cause Citation was discharged. [Bar Exhibit 1, Inventory, Order dated February 17, 1987].

On March 16, 1982, respondent received a second check for attorney fees in the amount of \$4,000.00. [Bar Exhibit 3]. As with the first check, this amount as well was submitted to H. H. Baskin to discharge the debt respondent owed him for his representation of respondent in his divorce. [TR I 89]. Following the opening of the Estate, over a period of several months, respondent and Joyce Baskin received numerous requests from Mrs. Lyons and Mr. Leto regarding the status of the transfer of the securities and several missing dividend checks. On several

occasions, Mrs. Baskin informed Mrs. Lyons and Mr. Leto that the securities were at the transfer agent. [TR 32, 44]. During that time, Mrs. Lyons was requested to sign transfer papers regarding the three securities on two separate occasions. [TR I 28, 32, 44; Bar Exhibit 4]. Each time, she delivered them to Joyce Baskin. [TR 31]. Both Mr. Leto and Mrs. Lyons attempted to get information by writing to the transfer agents personally, however, they were informed that the agents did not have the securities in their possession. [TR 33, 50].

In March 1983, when the securities were not transferred, Mrs. Lyons contacted Ronald Skipper, an attorney in Sarasota, where she was then residing, who contacted respondent regarding the delay. [Bar Exhibit 6]. When respondent did not answer Mr. Skipper's letter, Mr. Leto wrote to Joyce Baskin requesting action on the transfer of the securities. [Bar Exhibit 8]. Again no response was received and Mr. Leto filed a grievance with the Bar. [TR I 45, 46].

The Certificates of Deposit were distributed on May 12, 1983 to the three beneficiaries. [Bar Exhibit 1, Continuation of Accounting].

On March 22, 1984, the probate court issued a Show Cause Citation for failure to Discharge the Estate. On April 19, 1984, respondent filed a Petition to Extend Time for filing Final Discharge which was granted by the Court on April 19, 1984. On

May 22, 1984, although the securities were not yet transferred, respondent filed a Motion to Withdraw, which Motion was denied upon Objection raised by attorney Robert Winnick, hired by Mr. Leto on May 25, 1984, as beneficiary to the estate. [Bar Exhibit 1, Motion to Withdraw, Notice of Appearance, Order on Motion to Withdraw]. On October 22, 1984, Robert Winnick filed a Petition to Surcharge respondent for misconduct in his handling of the Leto estate. [Bar Exhibit 1, Petition to Surcharge]. On October 31, 1986 attorney Mark Shames was appointed by the probate court as co-counsel with respondent as attorney for the estate. Exhibit 1, Order dated November 1, 1984]. A hearing on the Petition for Surcharge was set August 21, 1985. On August 20, 1985, respondent filed a Chapter 11 Bankruptcy proceeding. Exhibit 1, Notice of Hearing dated August 12, 1985; Suggestion of Pendency of Bankruptcy Proceeding under Chapter 11].

After continued inaction by respondent, the attorney for Frank Leto, Robert Winnick, began transfer of the securities in August or September, 1984. As the securities were now defined as "lost securities", the beneficiaries were forced to post bond premiums in the total amount of approximately \$800.00. [TR I 51, 69]. Mr. Winnick received the Dayco and Internorth securities within four (4) to six (6) weeks after his request. [TR I 70]. He received the Security Pacific stock in June or July, 1985, due to confusion by the transfer agent concerning Winnick's status

in the estate. [TR I 71]. At no time was Mr. Winnick familiar with H. H. Baskin or consider him to be in anyway responsible for the estate. [TR I 78].

From the inception of the opening of the estate, the following expenses have been incurred regarding the transfer of the Certificate of Deposit and the three securities:

Respondent: \$9,000.00 attorney fee

Mark Shames: \$1,500.00 fee as co-counsel, appointed

by probate judge

Robert Winnick: \$6,000.00 fee for tracing and

transferring lost securities and handling Petition for Surcharge

Bond Premium: \$800.00

As of the date of the final hearing, the assets of the Leto estate were fully distributed; however, the estate remained open pending a determination of the Petition for Surcharge. [TR I 82].

SUMMARY

Review, three of which pertain to respondent's allegations of procedural impropriety occurring during the course of this disciplinary proceeding.

First, respondent charges that he was deprived of due process rights, arguing that the grievance committee found violations for certain Disciplinary Rules of which he was not noticed prior to the hearing. The Bar answers that respondent was informed of the general nature of the misconduct charged, which was sufficient under Integration Rule 11.04(3).

Second, respondent states that he was not properly served with a grievance committee report pursuant to Integration Rule 11.04(6)(c)(i). The Bar responds that this rule pertains to recommendations of Minor Misconduct, which was not the recommendation of the grievance committee. Respondent was properly served with a Complaint following a finding of Probable Cause by the committee.

Third, respondent argues that his due process rights were denied as the Bar failed to present exculpatory cases and cases involving Private Reprimands. The Bar responds that the facts in this case do not warrant a Private Reprimand. Further, if the Bar thought that "not guilty" cases applied, this disciplinary proceeding would not have been before the referee presenting these charges.

Respondent also argues that the referee erred by finding

that respondent was incompetent to handle the Leto Estate. Respondent, by his own admission, stated that illness, divorce and the lack of a probate secretary greatly diminished his ability to handle the Leto Estate. Respondent further stated that he did not neglect the estate. The Bar answers that (1) he was attorney of record and (2) the serious neglect of the estate is apparent from the record. The damage incurred to the clients totalled over \$11,000.00.

Respondent further argues that a recommendation of restitution is inappropriate. The Bar responds that, due to respondent's bankruptcy, filed one day before the civil hearing on a Petition for Surcharge against respondent for his misconduct in the handling of the Leto Estate, is the only way to ensure that the clients can be made whole.

Finally, respondent argues that the referee's recommendation of discipline is erroneous. The Bar answers that the egregious neglect of the simple transactions involved in the Leto Estate and the subsequent expenses and fees incurred by the client to remedy respondent's misconduct, certainly warrant the recommendation by the referee, which is well supported by prior case law.

"A Referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct and should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support." The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker, 485 So. 2d 815, 816 (Fla. 1986). The Florida Bar v. McCain, 361 So. 2d 700,

706 (Fla. 1978); The Florida Bar v. Wagner, 212 So. 2d 770, 772 (Fla. 1968). Therefore, the Bar asks this Court to uphold the referee's findings of fact and recommendations which are abundantly supported by the record.



ISSUE I

THE GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE PROCEEDED PROPERLY UNDER INTEGRATION RULE 11.04.

On May 8, 1984, Grievance Committee C for the Sixth Judicial Circuit held a hearing in the instant case, for which respondent was properly noticed but failed to attend. On October 31, 1984 respondent was served with a Notice of Hearing for December 11, 1984 by Investigating Member Gilbert MacPherson, which Notice advised respondent, pursuant to Integration Rule, article XI, Rule 11.04(3), of the general nature of his misconduct.

Prior to the taking of testimony and full disclosure of the facts, the Investigating Member expressed to the committee the areas of the Code that concerned him during his investigation, DR 2-102, DR 2-107(A)(1), DR 2-107(A)(2) and DR 9-102(A)(4). However, after a full hearing on the merits, the grievance committee found Probable Cause for the violation of DR 1-102(A)(4), DR 2-107(A)(1), DR 6-101(A)(1) and DR 6-101(A)(3).

The referee found respondent guilty of DR 6-101(A)(1) and DR 6-101(A)(3) and not guilty of DR 2-107(A)(1). (DR 1-102(A)(4) was inadvertently omitted from the Bar's Complaint.)

Respondent argues that the committee's failure to advise him of each disciplinary rule that it ultimately found as a probable cause violation is in an infringement of his due process rights. To this, the Bar responds that nowhere does the Integration Rule provide that the accused be advised, other than in general terms,

regarding the nature of the conduct being investigated. Integration Rule, article XI, Rule 11.04(3). It is apparent on the face of the Notice of Hearing that the nature of the misconduct is the subject of Frank Leto's complaint, with which respondent was copied when it was received by the Bar.

Additionally, the function of the grievance committee is to serve as an investigatory body, which is nonadversarial in nature. Respondent was well aware of the nature of the misconduct charged by the Bar at the time of the grievance committee hearing and, as such, was not deprived of procedural due process rights.

ISSUE II

THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT RESPONDENT VIOLATED DR 6-101(A)(1) AND DR 6-101(A)(3) IS SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD AND SHOULD BE UPHELD.

First, respondent argues that the referee's finding that he violated DR 6-101(A)(1) is in his handling of the Leto estate is in error, stating that he was competent to handle the estate due to his prior experience in probate.

The referee, however, found respondent incompetent to handle the matter due to the personal and professional problems respondent experienced at the time. Disciplinary Rule 6-107(A)(1) is not limited to academic competence when read in conjunction with the Ethical Considerations which insist on lawyer competence for the protection of the client.

Respondent stated to the referee; in addition to a pending, difficult divorce the following:

Respondent...Also, I think at the time Mrs. Leto died I had been hospitalized twice in that less six months, and immediately after within that year I was hospitalized four times.

I am not sure where the timing of it all runs. I didn't have a probate secretary although I had a lot of probate experience, this appeared to me to be a relatively easy estate, but I didn't have a secretary. I had been quite ill, having difficulty keeping up with my practice anyway. [TR I 111].

Despite these several problems and the fact that H. H. Baskin had substantial probate experience, respondent failed to refer the case to H. H. Baskin or any other attorney. Instead, respondent collected \$9,000.00 in fees and remained attorney of record in order to pay his debit to Baskin although at the time respondent was certainly incompetent to handle the estate. [TR II 30].

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